
 

 

 

 CITY OF BEAUFORT 
HISTORIC REVIEW BOARD 
1911 BOUNDARY STREET 

BEAUFORT, SOUTH CAROLINA 29902 
(843) 525‐7011 

FAX: (843) 986‐5606 
 

MINUTES 
The City of Beaufort 

HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW BOARD 
Full Board Wednesday, January 12, 2011, 2:00 P.M. 

Beaufort City Hall, Planning Conference Room – 1911 Boundary Street 
Beaufort, South Carolina   

 
 

  Members Present 
Joel Newman, Chairman 
Bill Chambers, Vice‐Chairman 
Inez Neal 
Michael Rainey 
 
A meeting of the Historic District Review Board was held on January 12, 2011 at 2:00 p.m. in the City Hall 
Planning Conference Room, 1911 Boundary Street. In attendance were Chairman Joel Newman, Board 
members Inez Neal, Bill Chambers, and Mike Rainey, and City Historic Preservation Planner Donna Alley. 
 
In accordance with the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, Section 30‐4‐80(d) as amended, all local 
media were duly notified of the time, date, place, and agenda of this meeting. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Newman called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES 
The minutes of the December 8, 2010 meeting were presented to the board for review. On motion by 
Mr. Rainey, second by Ms. Neal, the board voted unanimously to approve the minutes as written. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: 1915 DUKE STREET – MAJOR DEMOLITION OF STRUCTURE 
Chairman Newman opened the public hearing. Ms. Alley said the property is owned by Family 
Enterprises. The property is listed in the Beaufort County Historic Site Survey, but it is outside of the 
district. The property was posted and all requirements were met. Staff recommends demolition. There 
being no public comment, Chairman Newman closed the public hearing. 
 
 
 



 

 

PUBLIC HEARING: 905 PRINCE STREET – MAJOR DEMOLITION OF TWO STRUCTURES 
Chairman Newman opened the public hearing. Ms. Alley said the property is in the Old Commons 
neighborhood and is an old pump house and a storage facility on city property. The city would like to 
demolish the structures in order to make the land available for redevelopment. Maxine Lutz, on behalf 
of the Old Commons neighborhood association, said she has no objection to demolishing it and said 
much of the neighborhood has been given up to “de facto” parking from Prince Street south. She hopes 
that this doesn’t become another part of the Baptist Church of Beaufort’s parking area.  
 
Alice Conley‐Moore agreed with Ms. Lutz, and stated that she thinks there needs to be more attention 
paid to the types of buildings in the historic district to keep Beaufort “from changing for the 
worse.”Chairman Newman encouraged her to join Historic Beaufort Foundation. There being no further 
public comment, Chairman Newman closed the public hearing. Mr. Rainey made a motion, second by 
Ms. Neal, to approve demolition. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: 302 KING STREET – MINOR DEMOLITION 
Chairman Newman opened the public hearing. Ms. Alley said this is in conjunction with alterations to 
the structure. There being no public comment, Chairman Newman closed the public hearing. Mr. Rainey 
made a motion, second by Mr. Chambers, to approve demolition. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
REVIEW OF FULL BOARD PROJECTS 
1915 DUKE STREET – MAJOR DEMOLITION OF STRUCTURE, FINAL REVIEW 
Applicant: Family Enterprises (HR11‐02) 
Mr. Rainey said this is one of 6 buildings he knows of in this area. He thinks they were slave cabins 
moved into the Northwest Quadrant in the late 19th century. He said these are easy to move, and he 
would like to explore moving the main part of the structure for someone’s use as a guest house or 
elsewhere. “Someone might want one,” he said, and it can be moved on a car trailer. The sills are in 
viable condition, and it could be moved and utilized.  
 
Ms. Alley reminded the board that since it’s outside of the district, approval of demolition is a 6 month 
process. That could be offered in the motion as a suggestion, or they could deny it and advertise it in the 
hope that someone will move it. Ms. Alley said in order to give them more options, there should be a 
motion to deny.  
 
Fred Washington said his family owns the property, and they have heard suggestions that the structure  
should be moved. He said Mr. Keith in Port Royal was offered it; he said it was not feasible for him to 
remove it. They have no objections to anyone removing it who wants it, but they would like it 
demolished if no one wants it. If Historic Beaufort Foundation wants it, Mr. Washington will gladly 
donate it.  
 
Chairman Newman asked if anyone from Historic Beaufort Foundation would like to discuss it. Julie e 
said Historic Beaufort Foundation’s concern is that if it’s demolished, there will be only 5 structures. 
They are hoping for a redevelopment plan for that property from the Redevelopment Commission. Ms. 
Alley said there’s no replacement plan but they’re not required to have one. It was originally on the 
“vacant and abandoned list,” and Mr. Washington and his family are responding to the city’s inquiries on 
this matter.  
 
Mr. Rainey moved to deny the applicant, with the caveat that it be revisited in the future as to 
alternative plans. Mr. Washington said they’d be willing to do anything in the 6‐month period, but at the 



 

 

end of 6 months, they want it demolished. Chairman Newman clarified when the 6 months would begin. 
The motion failed for want of a second.  
 
Mr. Chambers asked Ms. e how long they would need to advertise it. Ms. Good said in the next 2‐3 
weeks. Mr. Washington said they will willingly donate it to whoever wanted it in the next 6 months. Ms. 
Alley said even if it’s approved today, they won’t get a permit for demolition for 6 months.  
 
Chairman Newman passed the gavel to Mr. Rainey and made a motion to approve demolition with the 
restriction, per the owner’s promise, that no action of demolition will be taken any sooner than the 6 
month window, which will give Historic Beaufort Foundation, or any party, time to investigate moving 
the structure. Mr. Washington said they don’t have the money to restore it. It was last habitable before 
he owned it. Ms. Neal seconded the motion. The motion passed 3‐1. 
 
302 KING STREET – ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS, AND MINOR DEMOLITION, PRELIMINARY REVIEW 
Applicant: Ashley Hefner for Ann Bluntzer (HR11‐05) 
Ms. Alley said the alterations, additions, and minor demolition had received final approval already. The 
structure is a contributing resource, built around 1900. It’s located in the Preservation District. Some 
FEMA flood elevation issues have emerged. The lot area of 3937 square feet requires 1199 square feet 
of impervious area. 
 
Ashley Hefner said a major issue is the height of the first floor. They don’t want a 13’ finished floor and 
they want to see if the board can help them to bypass that. There’s a fire code issue which they want to 
solve by raising the house, and moving it over 2’. Beekman Webb said on the side closest to the 
property line, the design shows it 3’ from the property line, and the city is requiring 5’ from the property 
line. They would allow less than 5’, but it would have to be a fire wall with no windows. That won’t work 
because there are two bedrooms there with egress windows. Moving it 2’ would be a benefit to the 
neighbors and to the house.  
 
On the height issue, Mr. Webb showed a drawing of the house from the road at the flood elevation. It’s 
close to the road. At the flood elevation, “it’s a little house up on stilts,” which could be done, he said, 
but would drastically change the appearance of the house. The plan as it’s applied for wouldn’t change it 
much. 
 
Chairman Newman asked if the rule is that if they don’t go to flood elevation they have to buy 
insurance. Mr. Webb said it can be insured anyway. Mr. Chambers said no new addition can be put in 
the flood plain without a variance. Chairman Newman said that doesn’t come from this board. The 
board would just say that they like the idea, and Ms. Alley said they can approve it, but they will not be 
able to get a variance from FEMA on the new construction. Ms. Alley said there has been work on a 
design to mitigate this, but it’s not what the new owner wants. Chairman Newman said they could 
renovate the front building without approval from FEMA, and Mr. Webb said they could renovate the 
part that has been approved for demolition. Rather than raise the whole thing to the flood level, they 
could have the option of repairing the shoddy addition.  
 
Chairman Newman asked if the owner “just didn’t want the step up.” They are allowed to renovate and 
restore the front, demolish the back, and create an addition. Mr. Webb said FEMA will give a variance. 
Ms. Alley said absolutely not. There are construction methods that can be used to make it flood‐proof. 
All this has been discussed with the building official. Mr. Webb said the ZBOA could approve it.  
 



 

 

Chairman Newman asked Mr. Hefner and Mr. Webb if they would like to review it based on what they 
would like to do. If they can solve their problems, great, or they may be back here. Mr. Webb said if the 
decision is to step up the addition some amount or repair what’s back there, that’s under consideration, 
too. Chairman Newman said moving the addition over 2’ is “not visually shown.” 
 
Mr. Chambers asked Mr. Hefner to talk about the restoration. Mr. Hefner said in the plan they would 
demolish the back, raise the front section to elevation 4, and add a new addition which tucks in behind 
the historic house. Mr. Chambers asked how they would restore the original house. Mr. Webb said it will 
remain basically the same. He said that they would like to get approval for the 5V roof in the addition to 
the house.  
 
Mr. Chambers said when they come back, they’ll have a restoration plan; it can just be notes. He doesn't 
want to see windows disappear or new siding, etc. Mr. Webb said all that stays and won’t be replaced. 
The front will be restored as‐is.  
 
Chairman Newman asked, if the FEMA variance is unsuccessful, how much the back section would need 
to be moved up to meet the code. Mr. Hefner said the finished floor is at 6’4” to meet the flood plain 
code. Mr. Webb said they would raise it 2‐3’. The front section would be raised a couple feet, Chairman 
Newman said, and he wants to know how high it will be. Mr. Hefner said it would be the 10.7’. Chairman 
Newman said the 10 and 12 pitch on the gable is a lot of latitude for the roof to come down and still be 
hidden behind the front ridge. Chairman Newman said they’ll have the latitude to solve the problem; he 
sees why they’d like to have it on one level.  
 
Mr. Rainey, second by Mr. Chambers, made a motion to approve the plan as presented in the 
preliminary stages of the process. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Ms. Alley said the approval will make it clear whether the board endorses the project or not. They did 
not approve moving the historic structure. That would have to be submitted for. Mr. Rainey said they're 
not ready for that yet. They have presented plans, they’ve been preliminarily approved, and he wants to 
have the record reflect that if they come back with it raised 6‐7’ the board will not approve it because 
it’s no longer a historical structure. Mr. Rainey said it’s a good project and would be a good addition to 
the neighborhood. 
 
509 CRAVEN STREET – WINDOWS, FINAL APPROVAL 
Applicant: Allen Patterson Residential for Sandra Klutz (HR11‐03) 
Ms. Alley said Heather Winch was representing Allen Patterson. In April 2010,  the applicant came back 
and wanted to substitute a window, but it was denied. Ms. Winch showed the board a sample window. 
She said the owner is willing to replace in wood, and the exterior trim would not change. The original 
windows use a “true divided light.” Window suppliers were consulted, and they could not find as close a 
match as the “simulated divided light” which allows the 5/8 separation in between the lights.  
 
The condition of the windows has deteriorated significantly, Ms. Winch said. There have been at least 3 
major renovations to the home, and “this is a significant factor.” Replacing by rebuilding each window 
individually is cost‐prohibitive. This is all done from the interior, and none of the exterior trim would be 
affected.  
 
Chairman Newman explained to the board how the windows are composed. He confirmed that this was 
a wooden sash, and Ms. Winch said yes. He asked her about the installation process, and she affirmed 
his experience of the process. There was some discussion of plastic jam liners. Chairman Newman 



 

 

explained to Mr. Rainey how the sashes move in the tracks. They’ll cut out the sash, take the wooden 
stop out, put a jam liner in, and take the sashes, pop them in, and they’re done.  
 
The plastic is seen half inside and half outside, Chairman Newman said. He rendered a drawing to show 
Mr. Rainey how much would be seen; he said in a white house, it won’t be noticeable. Ms. Winch said 
it’s not highly reflective. None of the windows on the lower level are being replaced. She said of the 
existing windows, 11 out of 240 panes are actually original; most have been substantially changed over 
time.  
 
Mr. Chambers said the Department of Interior standards are “repair, restore, replace.” He knows half of 
the windows were replaced in the 1980s. “There’s not any original fabric left there,” he said. The owner 
and Ms. Winch said there is none that they know of. Ms. Alley said that was established in the initial 
approval. Chairman Newman said they’re approving the appropriateness of the solution. Ms. Winch said 
yes, approval was granted in April, and they were trying to mimic as best they could a profile that met 
the house. Mr. Chambers said the dimensions of the sashes will be as close to the picture as possible. 
 
Ms. Good said the Preservation Committee was against the window replacement in April and now. A 
solution was installing interior storms to help with the draftiness. To Historic Beaufort Foundation, 
removing the windows is not the solution. Mr. Chambers said the Department of Interior allows window 
replacement if they can’t be repaired or restored. Mr. Rainey said it’s already been approved to restore 
them. Ms. Lutz said windows are “such important fabric,” and it should be a board decision in the 
future. Mr. Chambers said the windows are inventoried individually.  
 
Ms. Neal asked how many windows would be replaced. Chairman Newman said just the double‐hung 
windows, and the owner concurred.  
 
Mr. Chambers made a motion to approve the plan as submitted, second by Mr. Rainey, with a note as to 
the reservations of Historic Beaufort Foundation added to the record. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
401 PORT REPUBLIC STREET – SITE CHANGES – FENCING, FINAL REVIEW 
Applicant: Frederick + Frederick Architects for Earl and Elizabeth McMillen (HR11‐01) 
Ms. Alley said they’re proposing a fence that would consist of 20” square brick piers with 4x4 rails 
between. The center piers will have gas lanterns. Jane Frederick said people go down to see the view 
from this property, and then they turn around in the McMillens’ front yard, which is why they want to 
build the fence, not to close it off but to stop the cars from turning around. They want to keep the view 
open.  
 
Ms. Frederick said the brick would match the brick on the base of the house. It is within the property 
line. Ms. McMillen explained other methods they had tried to deter this behavior but to no avail.  
 
Ms. Good said the Preservation Committee had concern about gas lanterns. The fence is fine. The 
landscape lighting suggestion is low to the ground, and street lighting is recommended. They 
recommend a high pressure sodium bulb instead of gas. Mr. McMillen said they’re just replicating 
what’s on the houses around them. Ms. Alley said gas lanterns have been approved. The design of the 
fixture should be the concern, not the gas. Ms. Lutz said Historic Beaufort Foundation consistently 
opposes gas lanterns so as not “to look Olde Towne” but to look authentic. The precedent has been set, 
though. Ms. Alley said gas produces “very soft and pleasing light.” Mr. McMillen said it won’t be on 
constantly. Their end of the street is very dark, and they only get light from a neighbor whose gas 
lanterns do go all night long.  



 

 

 
Chairman Newman said that with wooden rails on a big house with substantial columns, it seems like 
everything in the landscape can easily look very small. He said the rails look thin to him, “as substantial 
as all of this is.” Mr. McMillen said that would be fine with them. Ms. Frederick said they want to keep 
the column height, and she thinks 3 rails would be fine. Chairman Newman said they need to make the 
adjustments because it’s a final review.  
 
Ms. McMillen said they didn’t want a big heavy brick wall since there’s one across the street, so they 
tried to be sensitive to that. Mr. Chambers asked if there would be landscaping around the fence. Mr. 
McMillen said on the exterior, little would survive. Ms. McMillen said anything other than lawn would 
be closer to the house. Ms. Frederick said it’s not in the right‐of‐way; it’s on their property. 
 
Mr. Rainey said he likes that this is new construction and doesn’t try to replicate something historic. He 
likes the look of this. He agrees with the owner on gas, and Chairman Newman said they’re approving 
the light, not the light source.  
 
Mr. Rainey moved for approval of the changes as submitted, with the revision of the third rail for the 
fence. Ms. Neal second. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
401 PORT REPUBLIC STREET – ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS – SEA WALL, FINAL REVIEW 
Applicant: Earl and Elizabeth McMillen (HR10‐65) 
Ms. Alley said a permit has been issued. The McMillens want a sea wall along the east property line. Ms. 
Frederick said there’s one on the adjacent property, and this addition is necessary because the whole 
end of Port Republic was filled and is slowly washing away. The wall will mimic the tabby on the other 
side of it. This is just the aesthetic review.  
 
Ms. Alley said the Public Works staff were consulted and did not see any issues with this. Ms. Good 
asked if the finish is tabby, and then added that Milner said it should be stucco, which will last longer. 
Chairman Newman said “tabby as we think of it never existed.” Architects mimic what was actually 
beneath a stucco finish. On this sea wall, they’re trying to replicate the tabby look of the one next to it. 
Mr. Chambers said it’s actually a concrete wall with oyster shells stuck in it. 
 
Mr. Chambers asked about the existing and proposed sea walls. Ms. Frederick said there’s rip‐rap there 
but no wall, and that’s what’s being referred to. There was some discussion of “tabby” vs. “oyster shell 
stucco.” Mr. Rainey made a motion for approval of the final review, seconded by Mr. Chambers. The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
304 SCOTT STREET – REQUESTED INFORMATION AND DETAILS, CONTINUATION / FINAL REVIEW 
Applicant: Allison Ramsey Architects for Associated Luxury Inn (HR10‐63) 
Ms. Alley said this is a continuance of the last review of the project. Greg Huddy said that windows will 
remain. Mr. Rainey made a motion for final approval, second by Ms. Neal. The motion passed 
unanimously.  
 
Ms. Lutz asked about excavation in the front yard of the property. Ms. Alley said the Beaufort Inn 
underwent an archeological survey. Mr. Rainey said this is a different property.  
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:34 p.m.  


